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BEFORE THE HEARING BOARD
OF THE
ILLINOIS ATTORNEY REGISTRATION
AND
DISCIPLINARY COMMISSION

In the Matter of: )
JESSICA ROSE ALLEN, ; Commission No. 2021PR00055
Attorney-Respondent, ;
No. 6315173. ;
COMPLAINT

Jerome Larkin, Administrator of the Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission,
by his attorney, Matthew D. Lango, pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 753(b), complains of
Respondent, Jessica Rose Allen, who was licensed to practice law in the State of Illinois on May
1, 2014, and alleges that Respondent has engaged in the following conduct which subjects
Respondent to discipline pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 770:

COUNT I

(Lack of Diligence and Dishonesty in Ishan Ahmed and
Aalia Khan’s Immigration Matters)

1. Throughout her legal career, Respondent has been employed as an associate
attorney in the Law Office of James M. Allen & Associates, a general practice law firm located in
Palatine, Illinois. James M. Allen is Respondent’s father and Respondent is the only other attorney
employed by the firm.

2. On June 24, 2019, Ishan Ahmed and his fiancée Aalia Khan appeared at
Respondent’s office for a consultation with regard to their immigration status. On that date,
Respondent agreed to represent Mr. Ahmed, and Mr. Ahmed retained Respondent’s firm for the
purpose of filing an I-130 Petition for Alien Relative and an [-485 Petition for Adjustment of Status

on his behalf.
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3. On June 24, 2019, Mr. Ahmed signed a retainer agreement with Respondent’s firm
and tendered a check in the amount of $500.00 towards a flat fee of $1,500. Respondent provided
a list of documentation for Mr. Ahmed to gather in order for her to file the petition on his behalf.

4. On September 11,2019, Mr. Ahmed informed Respondent that he had collected all
of the supporting documents necessary to file his petition. On September 26, 2019, Mr. Ahmed
and Ms. Khan came to Respondent’s office to sign an I-130 Petition for Alien Relative and a Notice
of Appearance of Attorney. At that time, Mr. Ahmed tendered to Respondent the supporting
documentation that he collected for his petition.

5. On September 26, 2019, Mr. Ahmed gave Respondent a cashier’s check payable to
U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (“USCIS”) in the amount of $535 for the I-130 petition
filing fees. Respondent indicated that she would file Mr. Ahmed’s petition with USCIS as soon
as possible.

6. Respondent prepared Mr. Ahmed’s petition shortly after September 26, 2019.
However, at no time between September 26 and November 25, 2019 did Respondent file Mr.
Ahmed’s petition.

7. Later, on November 25, 2019, Respondent and Ms. Khan agreed that Respondent’s
firm would represent Ms. Khan in filing an I-539 application to extend her existing Visa. At that
time, Ms. Khan’s existing Visa was set to expire on January 11, 2020.

8. On November 25, 2019, Ms. Khan met with Respondent, signed a retainer
agreement with Respondent’s firm, and signed the application to extend her Visa.

0. Also, on November 25, 2019, Respondent told Ms. Khan that she had already filed
Mr. Ahmed’s [-130 petition with USCIS. This representation was false, as Respondent had

prepared but not filed Mr. Ahmed’s petition on that date. Respondent made this representation to



Ms. Khan to conceal the fact that she had not filed Mr. Ahmed’s petition. Respondent knew this
representation was false at the time she made it.

10.  Upon completion of Ms. Khan’s I-539 application, Respondent was required to
submit that application a supporting documents to either the USCIS P.O. Box located in Chicago
by regular mail, or the USCIS Chicago Field Office by express mail. Respondent knew Ms. Khan’s
application was a time-sensitive matter. If Ms. Khan’s visa application was not extended, she
would become an out-of-status foreign national in the U.S. after January 11, 2020.

11.  After November 25, 2019, Respondent prepared but did not file Ms. Khan’s [-539
application.

12. On December 12, 2019, Mr. Ahmed sent an email to check on the status of Ms.
Khan’s [-539 application. After receiving his email, Respondent called Mr. Ahmed and told him
that Ms. Khan’s 1-539 application had been completed and sent to USCIS. This statement was
false, as Respondent had not submitted Ms. Khan’s application to USCIS. Respondent made this
representation to Mr. Ahmed in an effort to conceal from him the fact that she had not filed Ms.
Khan’s application. Respondent knew this statement was false at the time she made it.

13. On January 7, 2020, Mr. Ahmed sent Respondent an email requesting an update on
the status of Ms. Khan’s 1-539 application. On that date, Respondent responded to Mr. Ahmed’s
email by stating the application had “not yet been approved.” This statement was false and
misleading, as Respondent had not submitted Ms. Khan’s application to USCIS. Respondent made
this representation to Mr. Ahmed to conceal the fact that she had not filed Ms. Khan’s application.
Respondent knew this statement was false at the time she made it.

14. On January 8, 2020, Respondent had a telephone conversation with Ms. Khan

regarding the status of Ms. Khan’s application. In the conversation, Ms. Khan expressed concern



over the status of her application, as she would become an out-of-status foreign national in the
U.S. after January 11, 2020. In that conversation, Respondent again told Ms. Khan that her
application had been filed and gave her a receipt number for her application.

15.  Respondent’s statements to Ms. Khan as described in paragraph 14 above were
false, as Ms. Khan’s application had not been filed with USCIS, and the receipt number provided
to Ms. Khan by Respondent had no connection to her application.

16. On January 9, 2020, Ms. Khan contacted USCIS and provided a representative of
USCIS with the receipt number given to her by Respondent in an effort to find out the status of
her application. On that date, a representative of USCIS informed Ms. Khan that the receipt
number Respondent provided to her had no relation to her application and that USCIS did not have
any applications on file for Ms. Khan or Mr. Ahmed.

17. Subsequently, on January 9, 2020, Ms. Khan emailed Respondent informing her of
her conversation with USCIS and terminated Respondent’s firm’s services. Later that afternoon,
Mr. Ahmed went to Respondent’s office, where Respondent’s father, James Allen returned all
original documentation to Mr. Ahmed, as well as the $535 cashier’s check payable to USCIS, and
a check was issued payable to Mr. Ahmed in the amount of $1,050 for a full refund of fees paid to
Respondent.

18. Following Respondent’s termination, Mr. Ahmed and Ms. Khan hired new counsel
to represent them in their immigration matters.

19. By reason of the conduct described above, Respondent has engaged in the following
misconduct:

a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in
representing a client, by conduct including not filing Ahmed’s I-
130 petition or Khan’s [-539 application in violation of Rule 1.3
of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);
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b. engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or
misrepresentation by conduct including repeatedly and
knowingly making false statements about the status of Ahmed
and Khan’s applications to USCIS, during the period from
November 25, 2019 to January 9, 2020, both by stating that she
had mailed their applications and by providing Khan with a false
receipt number, as described in paragraphs 9, 12, 13, and 14
above, in violation of Rule 8.4(c) of the Illinois Rules of
Professional Conduct (2010).

WHEREFORE, the Administrator respectfully requests that this matter be assigned to a
panel of the Hearing Board, that a hearing be held, and that the panel make findings of fact,

conclusions of fact and law, and a recommendation for such discipline as is warranted.

Respectfully submitted,

Jerome Larkin, Administrator
Attorney Registration and
Disciplinary Commission

By: /s/Matthew D. Lango
Matthew D. Lango

Matthew D. Lango

Counsel for the Administrator

130 East Randolph Drive, Suite 1500
Chicago, Illinois 60601

Telephone: (312) 565-2600

Email: mlango@jiardc.org;

Email: ARDCeService@iardc.org
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